
 
 

 
 
 

Policy Overview 
Committee 

 
 
 

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman) 
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 

 

Councillor S H Brown Councillor P Kelly 
Councillor M J Bryant Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor P J Cannon Councillor Mrs A Muckle 
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor A Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor M J Davis Councillor Mrs R L Shanks 
Councillor D A Hammock Councillor C M Stafford 
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D Swinerd 
  

 
 
 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 

 
Tuesday 16 December 2014 

 
 

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
AGENDA 

 

Tuesday 16 December 2014 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.  
 

 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 2 September 2014 (Pages 1 - 12) 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.  
 

 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 13 - 16)  

 To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 14 November 2014 to 31 March 2015.  
 

 

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 2 September 2014 (Pages 17 - 20) 

SD (IS) 

 To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 2 September 2014.  
 

 

8. Pharmacy Services (Pages 21 - 22) SD (IS) 

 To receive a briefing on the services that can be provided by 
pharmacies.  
 

 

9. Healthy Living Centre Dartford (Pages 23 - 24) SD (IS) 

 To receive a briefing on the work that is carried out at the Healthy 
Living Centre Dartford.  
 

 

10. Dartford Preventative Health Locality Projects Annual Report 
2013/14 (Pages 25 - 44) 

SD (IS) 

 To update the committee on the outcomes of the Dartford 
Preventative Health Locality Projects for the financial year 2013/14.  
 
 

 



11. Social Media (Pages 45 - 48) SD (IS) 

 To inform the Committee about the use of social media by Local 
Government and to examine possible principles which could be 
applied to any social media policy developed by the Council.  
 

 

12. Policy Overview Committee Work Plan (Pages 49 - 54) SD (IS) 

 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.  
 

 

 
 



 

1 

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L 
 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 2 
September 2014 at 7.00 pm 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman) 
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor M J Bryant 
Councillor P J Cannon 
Councillor P F Coleman 
Councillor M J Davis 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P Kelly 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor C M Stafford 
Councillor D Swinerd 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor J A Hayes 
Councillor Mrs A Muckle 
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks 

 
ALSO 
PRESENT: 

Susan Acott – Chief Executive, Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust 

 Tracey Schneider – KCC Project Officer, Dementia 
Friendly Communities 

 Dave Worrell – Dartford Borough Resident's Forum 
 
Dartford Borough Council Officers 
 

 Adrian Gowan – Policy and Corporate Support 
Manager 

 
13. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Prior to taking apologies for absence the Chairman referred to the recent sad 
news of the deaths of committee member Councillor Mrs N C Wightman, and 
regular substitute Councillor J I Muckle, and asked that condolences be 
passed to their families and Councillor Mrs A Muckle on behalf of all Members 
present. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J A Hayes, Mrs A 
Muckle and Mrs R L Shanks, and Mr B Qualey (the Dartford Borough 
Residents’ Forum representative). 
 

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

2 

15. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 16 JUNE 2014  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 16 
June 2014 be confirmed. 
 

16. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

17. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees. 
 

18. REGULATION 9 NOTICE  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 13 August 2014 to 
31 December 2014, be noted. 
 

19. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 16 JUNE 2014  
 
This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 16 June 2014. 
 
The Chairman referred to the item relating to the Council’s Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy and said that they were looking to hold the associated 
workshop near the end of September, and that he would advise Members of 
the chosen date once it had been agreed. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held on 16 
June 2014 be noted. 
 

20. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST UPDATE  
 
The Chairman welcomed Susan Acott, Chief Executive of Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust, to the meeting, who was present to brief Members on 
the Trust’s future strategy. 
 
Mrs Acott began by noting that, because of the financial pressures that were 
being placed on the health service, they had been required to prepare a 5 
year strategy to confirm that the services that were being provided were 
sustainable in the medium term and that current performance levels could be 
maintained. She also referred to the previous intention to merge with Medway 

Agenda Item 3 Page 2



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

3 

Foundation Trust and the fact that, as this was not progressed, they had 
needed to re-evaluate the situation and form a strategy to move forward 
independently. 
 
Mrs Acott then referred to the map showing areas of deprivation in Kent and 
noted the significant amount shown around the Dartford and Gravesham 
areas. She also said that, looking forward, they expected that there would be 
an increased number of people aged over 85 and under 6 requiring health 
care support. She then referred to the planned housing growth in the 
Ebbsfleet area, and the associated age profile of its new residents, and said 
that this also needed to be factored in when planning the future growth of 
services such as Maternity, Accident and Emergency (A&E) and Paediatrics.  
 
Mrs Acott then highlighted the financial constraints being experienced by the 
hospital and said that the Government paid hospitals less, as the number of 
emergency cases treated in A&E increases, to encourage hospitals to work 
more with other agencies. She also noted that financing from the Better Care 
Fund was being made available as a pooled budget with Social Services to 
assist with service integration. 
 
Mrs Acott also noted the additional pressures that can be placed on the A&E 
department when ambulances are diverted away from the London and 
Medway areas because the local hospitals in those areas are unable to cope. 
 
Mrs Acott said that their mission was to be an outstanding hospital Trust 
which, in conjunction with their partner service providers in the community, 
delivered safe well co-ordinated services to patients. She then drew Member’s 
attention to the importance of the defined core values of respect, dignity, 
responsiveness, compassion and courage, and highlighted examples of 
where organisations had lost sight of these values and then become 
detached. 
 
Mrs Acott said that the overall clinical strategy would focus on: 

• strengthening its core services (such as maternity, A&E, paediatrics, 
orthopaedics and urology) 

• delivering services at other locations, using modern internet based 
methods to communicate with patients, and working other community 
based service providers to support people so that they are able to live 
with their conditions. 

• providing specialist services at a local level (e.g. the setting up of a 
Moorfields Eye Unit at Darent Valley hospital) in order to reduce the 
need for patients to travel to London to receive specialist treatment. 

 
 Mrs Acott then noted the action being taken to reduce hospital admissions 
and the importance of providing support in the community to the elderly and 
those living with dementia. She said that an Elderly Care Assessment Unit 
was being created as part of the A&E expansion work and that an Ambulatory 
Care Pathway was also being developed (where patients can be discharged 
from the building, but not discharged from the hospital’s care). She also said 
that the provision of specialist services at a local level were continuing to be 

Agenda Item 3Page 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

4 

developed and that, as well as the eye unit and renal related services, 
opportunities relating to cardiology and oncology were also being explored. 
She also noted how use was being made of the neighbouring community 
hospitals in Erith and Gravesend to deliver services at a more local level. 
 
Mrs Acott then referred to the building work that was currently taking place in 
the A&E area and explained that this would extend the waiting area, provide 
for a safer environment, and enable a re-organised triage process to be put in 
place. She also noted that they planned to set up a new endoscopy unit at 
Darent Valley Hospital to provide an enhanced small surgery and screening 
services for patients. 
 
Mrs Acott then updated Members on the current car parking situation and said 
that the Trust did not own or control the car parking facilities and so had no 
power to address the problem directly. She did however note that the contract 
to operate the car park was due for renewal next year and said that the need 
to extend car parking facilities would form part of the new contract. Tenderers 
would be invited to submit expansion proposals, together with associated 
timescales. She said that changes to the car park would also require planning 
permission from the Council. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Acott for her presentation and welcomed the 
update relating to the car parking situation given the number of complaints 
that have been raised relating to the queues that build up at visiting times. He 
then asked whether the hospital received any income from those operating 
the car park. In reply, Mrs Acott said that the car park, together with the shops 
located near the hospital’s main entrance, were operated as part of a gain 
share agreement, and that the hospital only received income if the profits 
exceed a preset level, but added that, in her experience, any income received 
from this arrangement had been negligible. She also noted that, as well as 
impacting patients who are trying to keep appointments, the hospital staff 
themselves can also be delayed by the queues which build up. 
 
Members referred to the pressure being put on the hospital to reduce the 
number of admissions and asked whether there were safeguards in place to 
ensure that people with certain symptoms, which might relate to an underlying 
serious condition, did not end up being misdiagnosed and discharged too 
soon. Mrs Acott replied that those whose condition only required follow-up 
care were easy to process and discharge, and those who were very ill and 
obviously required admission were easy to process. Those with symptoms 
which might relate to a number of conditions (e.g. bad stomach pains) could 
be dealt with using the Ambulatory Care Pathway, and, having had the 
necessary scans, be discharged, but still be kept under the hospital’s care 
until the diagnosis is confirmed, rather than being admitted for 48 hours 
observation. 
 
One Member noted his involvement with Walk Tall, who are a group that 
provides counselling services for those who find themselves unable to cope, 
and said that the service that they provide can sometimes help to address 
issues before a person reaches the point where they feel that they require 

Agenda Item 3 Page 4



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

5 

medical attention and present themselves at A&E. Mrs Acott said that local 
knowledge of service providers was not always comprehensive or complete 
and that she felt that the service provided by Walk Tall might be helpful to 
those identified with mental health issues. She referred to the work carried out 
by the mental health liaison team relating to drug and alcohol abuse and self- 
harming and asked that she be sent the contact details for Walk Tall details so 
that she can make others aware of the service that they provide. 
 
In response to a question relating to people who have been detained by 
police, and are waiting to be treated in the A&E department, Mrs Acott said 
that the new design should help to keep them separate from other patients. 
She also noted the problems that can be caused by the disruptive, and 
sometimes violent, action of others, and the associated difficulties faced by 
staff. 
 
The Dartford Borough Resident’s Forum representative referred to the 
pressures being placed on the hospital’s A&E department and said that 
people often use A&E because they are not able to book an appointment with 
their own GP. Members felt that, like Gravesend, Dartford should have its own 
walk-in centre, and also felt that consideration should be given to setting one 
up in the St. Clements Valley and Ebbsfleet Garden City development areas. 
The Chairman suggested that this be taken up with the Kent Community 
Health NHS Trust and be included as part of their own 5 year plan. 
 
Members then referred to the informative quarterly meetings that are held by 
the Trust and encouraged other Members to attend as it would enable them to 
learn about what is being achieved at the hospital, and provide them with 
information relating to surgical procedures that are carried out, in ways that 
are easy to understand. 
 
Members referred to the hospital’s staff car parking policy and asked whether 
more hospital staff would be allowed to park in the car park at the hospital 
once it had been expanded, as they were concerned at the impact that the 
current policy was having on local residents when staff were forced to use 
local roads for parking. Mrs Acott replied that patient car parking is given 
priority over staff car parking and said there is currently a waiting list for staff 
car parking passes, hence the issue with parking in local roads. She noted 
that Darent Valley had good transport links and said that all options were 
being explored to address the issue. 
 
Members again referred to the Ebbsfleet Garden City development and the 
need to factor in the potential impact that the increased population would have 
on the health care service, and in particular the maternity unit, which was 
already delivering 5,000 babies a year. Mrs Acott replied that they were 
already receiving information relating to the proposed scale and pace of the 
new development and were using this to assess health care requirements. 
She noted that, due to its proximity to London, where salary levels are good, it 
was sometimes difficult to recruit skilled staff. She said that the hospital was 
already operating at capacity and would need further investment in order that 
it may expand, and said that this had all been written down and included as 

Agenda Item 3Page 5



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

6 

part of their future strategy plans. She also noted that those who deliver 
primary care and GP services in the community would also be required to 
make additional provision as the local population increased. Members were 
also advised that Michael Cassidy, Chairman of the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation, and the steering group, had been approached to make sure that 
the future provision of health care is taken into account as the project 
progresses. 
 
Members were alarmed to hear how the Trust could be financially penalised 
for taking more A&E cases and asked whether major incidents were excluded 
from this. Mrs Acott replied that this did cause problems, especially when 
cases which should be dealt with in Medway or London are diverted to Darent 
Valley. She said that major incidents are dealt with as part of their baseline 
workload, but noted that if their workload increased sharply as a result of an 
A&E closure, then this could be dealt with as an exception, as had been the 
case when the A&E unit at Queen Mary’s Hospital had closed. 
 
Members referred to the recent announcement relating to the problems that 
were being experienced with hospitals in the east Kent area and asked 
whether this was likely to have an impact on the services being provided by 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley NHS Trust. Mrs Acott replied that the 
results of the Care Quality Commission’s review of east Kent had 
demonstrated the impact that pressure can have on the ability to deliver a 
quality service. She said that the issues identified in east Kent would not have 
a direct local impact, but could have an indirect affect if Medway, who are 
themselves experiencing problems, are called on to help alleviate the 
pressures in east Kent. 
 
Members then referred to the potential impact that future increased financial 
related pressure might have on the Trust’s ability to maintain the quality of 
care that it currently provides and asked whether measures were being put in 
place to mitigate against this risk. In response Mrs Acott said that when Trusts 
face a combination of pressures there is a risk that attempts to address the 
problems can impact the quality of service provided and the health outcomes 
being delivered. She said that the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley NHS 
Trust would be working to its set of defined values, and said that staff have 
been made part of that value base and were committed to delivering a service 
which made a difference. She said that, as pressures change, and new 
challenges are faced, the Trust would continue to be guided by its values and 
remain accountable to the public. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Acott for taking the time to attend and invited her 
to return in a year’s time to provide a further update. Mrs Acott responded by 
thanking the Chairman for his invite and confirming that she would be happy 
to return in order to provide a further update. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Susan Acott be thanked for attending the meeting and responding 

to Members’ questions. 

Agenda Item 3 Page 6



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

7 

 
2. That the information provided by Susan Acott be noted. 
 
3. That a letter be written to Kent Community Health NHS Trust asking 

that they consider providing a Community Hospital walk-in facility in 
Dartford and other areas of new development to further ease the 
pressure on Darent Valley’s A&E department. 

 
4. That a letter be written to Brandon Lewis MP, Minister of State for 

Housing and Planning, and copying in the local MP Gareth Johnson, 
highlighting the concerns raised by the Policy Overview Committee 
relating to the increased pressure that the Ebbsfleet Garden City 
development, and new theme park, would put on the existing health 
services in the Dartford area, and the need to ensure that additional 
funding is made available to the Trust to enable them to cope with the 
anticipated increased demand. 

 
5. That the Chief Executive of Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust be 

invited back to provide a further update to the Committee at their 
September 2015 meeting. 

 
21. DEMENTIA FRIENDLY COMMUNITIES  

 
The Chairman welcomed Tracey Schneider, Kent County Council (KCC) 
Project Officer for Dementia Friendly Communities, who was present to 
provide a briefing to Members on the progress that had been made by Kent 
County Council’s Dementia Friendly Communities team since her last visit in 
September 2013. 
 
Mrs Schneider began by outlining the geographic area covered by her role 
and said since her last visit it had been expanded to include the Isle of 
Sheppey and Sittingbourne. She noted that work was progressing well and 
said that each area had its own set of priorities. 
 
Mrs Schneider then referred to the ‘insight’ papers that had been tabled, and 
said that they included comments and views that had been gathered from a 
range of people with dementia, and their carers, and highlighted issues that 
would need to be addressed in order for an area to be classed as ‘dementia 
friendly’. She then described the launch event that had been held in May for 
the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley areas and explained how it had 
focused on what those living with dementia were able to do, and things that 
could be done to deliver a better quality of life. 
 
Mrs Schneider described how the local group set up to promote dementia 
awareness in the Dartford area included a number of people who were living 
with dementia and were able to provide practical advice based on their own 
their experiences during discussions. She said that one of the issues that had 
been raised at the group related to the quality and quantity of information that 
is provided when dementia is first diagnosed, and the fact that the terminology 
is often too wordy and medical based. 

Agenda Item 3Page 7



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

8 

 
Mrs Schneider also noted that the Dartford area still lacked a community 
driver, whose role would be to ensure that the initiatives put in place to make 
Dartford ‘dementia friendly’ remained sustainable after the KCC project group 
had completed their work, and said that, in other areas, committed local 
residents were undertaking this role. 
 
Mrs Schneider then identified 4 priorities for Dartford and said that: 
 

• people should be made aware of potential dangers in the environment 
and avoid situations that might lead to accidents, resulting in 
unnecessary stays in hospital. 
 

• work should be carried out in schools with young people, who may 
themselves be future carers, to raise their awareness of dementia and 
thus enable earlier diagnosis of the condition. 

 

• those with dementia should be encouraged to maintain their leisure and 
social networks to avoid becoming lonely and withdrawn. 

 

• those who provide a service to members of the public (e.g. those in the 
transport or retail sectors) should be made dementia aware. 

 
Mrs Schneider then said that they were planning to arrange a Dementia Event 
at the end of the year in Dartford, similar to the one that had been held in 
Gravesham, which would again focus on highlighting those things that people 
living with dementia can do. She said that the event would include a number 
of talks and that she had also arranged for a representative from the Sikh 
community in Bradford to attend. 
 
Mrs Schneider also noted that a dementia awareness session was going to be 
held in October for Dartford Borough Council staff and noted that other 
agencies, such as Age UK and the North West Kent Volunteer Centre, were 
also committed to having their staff trained in dementia awareness. She then 
referred to the associated work that is carried out in churches and said that 
they attend each other’s events and use all means possible to get their 
message out into the communities. 
 
Mrs Schneider said that a Kent-wide Dementia Action Alliance Group had now 
been launched which was looking at things at a Kent-wide level, and included 
senior members of various charity groups, and described how the work that 
she and others carry out at a local level is fed in to this group. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Schneider for her presentation and referred to the 
distinction between those living with dementia and those experiencing mental 
health problems, and the way that those conditions are classified. Mrs 
Schneider replied that different Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) group 
the conditions in different ways, but said that dementia is classed as an 
illness. She also noted the Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care 
Partnership Trust provides services for both conditions. 

Agenda Item 3 Page 8



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

9 

 
The Dartford Borough Resident’s Forum representative referred to the 
Forum’s open meetings that are held once a month, and the Talking Trailer 
Community Events, and suggested that Mrs Schneider might like to use these 
as a way of promoting the dementia related work that was being carried out. 
 
Members referred to the information that had been gathered during the insight 
exercise and asked about the role that music can play when dealing with 
dementia. Mrs Schneider replied that she would provide Members with a link 
to a YouTube video, which clearly showed the positive impact that music can 
have on someone living with dementia. Members then discussed other ways 
of providing stimulation to those living with dementia and referred to shared 
activities such as dancing, and the use of animals and smells to unlock 
memories. During further discussion the benefits seen as those with dementia 
interact with young people and babies were also described. Mrs Schneider 
also noted that the use of ‘doll therapy’ can sometimes result in an automatic 
nurturing response. 
 
Reference was then made to the costs that can be associated with the 
granting of a Lasting Power of Attorney and Members asked whether any 
progress had been made towards the provision of financial support by Kent 
County Council. Mrs Schneider replied that she was unaware of the current 
status of this issue, but said that she would investigate and report back to 
Members. She then explained how they were working with a number of legal 
firms to prepare clear, easy to understand Power of Attorney related 
information for use in both public and professional domains, and said that she 
thought that such information should be provided as part of the family 
information pack. She also said that Lasting Powers of Attorney should be 
arranged as soon as the onset of dementia has been diagnosed to avoid 
future complications as the illness progresses, and also noted that the ways in 
which a Power of Attorney is used can differ in each organisation. 
 
Mrs Schneider was then asked about the diagnosis of dementia and replied 
that everyone forgets things or does something silly from time to time, but she 
advised that professional advice should be sought if someone is seen to do 
the same thing repeatedly (e.g. asking the same question a number of times). 
 
In response to a question relating to the travel costs that can be incurred 
when visiting someone with dementia located in a care home some distance 
from family members Mrs Schneider replied that this can be a particular 
problem for those who live in rural areas, and can occur unexpectedly if a 
care home finds that it has to close, and its residents need to be relocated. 
Mrs Schneider noted that there were some schemes that offered transport 
support, and other initiatives that could also help, such as the ability for a 
carer to apply for their own bus pass, but said that communicating this to 
those that needed to know was often the problem. Members then discussed 
whether there was anything that the Council could do to assist in this area and 
suggested that its staff and the internet could be used to direct people to 
available information sources. Mrs Schneider then drew Members’ attention to 
the information booklet that was being prepared aimed specifically at the 

Agenda Item 3Page 9



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

10 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area and asked that Members take a copy 
for review and provide feedback on any areas where it was felt that it could be 
enhanced or improved. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Schneider for taking the time to attend and update 
Members and, having noted that her current role would come to an end in 
May 2015 suggested that she might like to attend the Committee’s meeting in 
March 2015 if she felt that it would be worthwhile. He also asked that she 
keep Members informed of any dementia related events that were being held 
so that they may then pass the information on to their own contacts in the 
community. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Tracey Schneider be thanked for attending the meeting and 

responding to Members’ questions. 
 
2. That the initiatives being progressed by Kent County Council’s 

Dementia Friendly Communities team be noted. 
 
3. That Members review the ‘Test Copy’ Dementia Insight information 

booklet and provide feedback on any areas where it is felt that it could 
be enhanced or improved. 

 
4. That the Mrs Schneider be invited back to provide a further update to 

the Committee at their March 2015 meeting. 
 

22. POLICY OVERVIEW TASK GROUP ON TOWN CENTRE IMPROVEMENTS  
 
This report asked Members to agree the Terms of Reference for the Task 
Group which will contribute to Town Centre improvements. 
 
The Chairman explained that the areas of research outlined in the Terms of 
Reference had been aligned with the work already being carried out by the 
Town Team. He said that the Town Team had asked that these areas be 
investigated first because they had been unable to carry out investigations 
themselves due to current workloads. He also noted that he had added 
himself to the Group, and would act as its Chairman because he now 
recognised the importance of the work that the Group was being tasked to 
carry out. 
 
Members then discussed whether the Task Group would be able to make 
amendments to their Terms of Reference as there was a view that they 
should have more input into the strategic direction being proposed for the 
Town Centre, and that cross-party consideration could also be given to 
available Town Centre development opportunities and the potential impact 
that the proposed housing and theme park developments in the surrounding 
areas may have on the Town Centre. In response the Chairman advised that 
the Group could only operate under the Terms of Reference that had been 
agreed by the Policy Overview Committee, and that any proposed changes 

Agenda Item 3 Page 10



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

11 

would have to be referred back to the Policy Overview Committee for 
agreement. He proposed that the Task Group should begin by addressing the 
areas defined in these Terms of Reference before deciding whether to 
consider additional areas. 
 
Members also recognised that it was important that the Task Group’s work 
should not duplicate work already being progressed by the Town Team and 
referred to a report that was being prepared to describe the initiatives that 
were already underway. They suggested that consideration should be given to 
this report before deciding whether to investigate other areas. The Chairman 
agreed that this report should be made available and explained how he would 
act as the link between the Task Group and the Town Team to ensure that 
there is no duplication of effort. He said that the Group would operate as a 
Member-only Task Group and said that he envisaged that group members 
would be specifically assigned to work on one of the three task areas defined. 
 
A number of Members expressed concern at the fact that the areas of work 
had been pre-defined and felt that they should be given the opportunity to 
identify additional areas for investigation and set their own goals. It was also 
noted that the Terms of Reference identified these as the ‘first’ areas for 
consideration, which implied that further areas could be put forward for 
consideration once investigation of these areas had been completed. The 
Chairman said that it was important to address these areas first because the 
results of their investigations would be of particular interest to the Town Team. 
 
All Members agreed that the formation of the Task Group should not be 
delayed further. It was therefore agreed that the Task Group would operate 
under the Terms of Reference defined in Appendix A to the report. Members 
also agreed that the Policy Overview Committee should be given the 
opportunity to review the report on the various initiates being progressed by 
the Town Team so that the Task Group’s Terms of Reference may be 
amended if other areas requiring investigation are identified. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Terms of Reference for the Town Centre Task Group, as set 

out in Appendix A to the report, be agreed. 
 
2. That a review of the report on the initiatives being progressed by the 

Town Team be scheduled following its publication. 
 

23. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  
 
This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan. 
 
The Chairman drew Members’ attention to the large number of items that 
were currently planned for the December meeting and, with the Committee’s 
agreement, asked that the ‘Dartford Children and Young People’s Partnership 
Board Update’ item be moved to the March 2015 meeting. 
 

Agenda Item 3Page 11



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 
 

12 

The Chairman then noted that items relating to the planned Task Group 
review of policies used in other Town Centres would also be scheduled for the 
March and June 2015 meetings of the Committee, and also confirmed the 
following additions that had been agreed during discussion of previous 
agenda items: 
 

• Dementia Friendly Communities – March 2015 
• Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust – September 2015 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Work Plan, together with the amendments minuted above, be noted. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 8.50 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor E J Lampkin 
CHAIRMAN 

Agenda Item 3 Page 12



14 November 2014 - 31 March 2015 
 

1 of 4 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 
 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy 
Councillor A R Martin, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Council Finances & Strategic Service Provision 
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Environment, Leisure & Facilities 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Town Centre 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Attractions & Heritage 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 

A
genda Item

 6
P

age 13



 

2 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Rebuild of Fairfield Pool and 
Leisure Centre 
 
Further to the report being put 
forward for consideration at the 23 
October meeting of Cabinet, this 
report details the final costs and 
implications relating to the 
redevelopment of Fairfield Pool and 
Leisure Centre. 
 

Cabinet 
4 Dec 2014 
 

Public consultation for 
the proposals was 
undertaken at the 
feasibility stage with 
public exhibitions. 

 
 

Tony Phillips, Heritage, Events 
and Projects Manager 
Tel: 01322 343269 
tony.phillips@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Development Policies Plan 
Consultation 
 
The plan will contain policies for 
managing development in the 
Borough which will be used in the 
determination of planning 
applications.  It will supplement 
policies in the Core Strategy which 
are of a more strategic nature. At this 
consultation stage, draft policy 
wording will be provided for 
consideration. 
 

Cabinet 
4 Dec 2014 
 

A previous report has 
been considered by 
Cabinet on the scope of 
the Plan (previously 
‘Development 
Management Plan’) and 
this has been subject to 
public consultation.  This 
report proposes to carry 
out a further stage of 
public consultation.  The 
Plan will be considered 
by the LDF Members 
Working Group before 
Cabinet. 

 
 

Mark Aplin, Planning Policy 
Manager 
Tel: 01322 343202 
mark.aplin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

A
genda Item

 6
P

age 14



 

3 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates 
 
To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable. 
 

Cabinet 
4 Dec 2014 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01322 343007 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

Report of Delegated Action Taken 
Under Standing Order 38: 
Valuation Services - Extension of 
Consultant Valuer's Contract & 
Waiver of Contract Standing 
Orders 
 
To report to Cabinet, in 
accordance with the requirements 
of Standing Order 38(2)(b), the 
delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the 
Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, in 
relation to the waiver of Contract 
Standing Order 7.4 and the 
extension of the consultant 
valuer’s contract. 
 

Cabinet 
4 Dec 2014 
 

  
 

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services 
Tel: 01322 343634 
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the part 
of the Appendix to 
this report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) A

genda Item
 6

P
age 15



 

4 of 4 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

National Non-Domestic 
Discretionary Rate Relief 
 
To consider granting discretionary 
rate relief to charities or non-profit 
making organisations, or to certain 
businesses in a designated Rural 
Settlement in the Borough. 
 

Cabinet 
22 Jan 2015 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01322 343007 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

A
genda Item

 6
P

age 16



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

 

1. Summary 
 

1.1   To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 2 
September 2014 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the 
next meeting for a more detailed discussion.  

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held on 2 

September 2014 be noted and that the Committee consider whether any item 
requires a report to be submitted to the next meeting, for more detailed 
discussion. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. List of Action Points 

No. Item Responsible Officer 

1 The workshop to review issues associated with the 
Council’s Consultation and Engagement Strategy has 
now been held. An associated report on Social Media 
has been included as part of this agenda. 
 
Consideration of the revised Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy has been included on the Work 
Plan for the 10 March 2015 meeting of the Committee. 
 

Adrian Gowan 

2 At their meeting on 2 September 2014, during 
consideration of the item relating to the Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust, Members asked that a letter 
be written to Kent Community Health NHS Trust 
asking that they consider providing a Community 
Hospital walk-in facility in Dartford and other areas of 
new development to further ease the pressure on 
Darent Valley’s A&E department. 
 
A letter has been written and sent on behalf of the 
Committee. 
 

Adrian Gowan 

3 At their meeting on 2 September 2014, during 
consideration of the item relating to the Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust, Members asked that a letter 
be written to Brandon Lewis MP, Minister of State for 
Housing and Planning, and copying in the local MP 
Gareth Johnson, highlighting the concerns raised by 
the Policy Overview Committee relating to the 
increased pressure that the Ebbsfleet Garden City 

Adrian Gowan 

Agenda Item 7Page 17



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

development, and new theme park, would put on the 
existing health services in the Dartford area, and the 
need to ensure that additional funding is made 
available to the Trust to enable them to cope with the 
anticipated increased demand. 
 
A letter has been written and sent on behalf of the 
Committee. 
 

4 At their meeting on 2 September 2014, during 
consideration of the item relating to Dementia Friendly 
Communities, Members asked whether any progress 
had been made with respect to the provision of 
support for those seeking Power of Attorney. 
 
The response received from the KCC Project Officer 
was forwarded to all Committee members. 
 

Alan Stoneham 

5 At their meeting on 2 September 2014, during 
consideration of the item relating to Dementia Friendly 
Communities, Members were asked to review and 
comment on the ‘Dementia Insight’ information 
newsletter. 
 
Hard copies of the newsletter, together with other 
information provided by the KCC Project Officer, were 
distributed to all Committee members. 
 
Members were also emailed a link to the YouTube 
video which demonstrated the positive effect that 
music can have on someone living with dementia. 
 

Alan Stoneham 

6 At their meeting on 2 September 2014 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a presentation 
from Kent County Council’s Project Officer for 
Dementia Friendly Communities, asked that she be 
invited to return in March 2015 to provide a further 
update to the Committee. 
 
The Work Plan has been updated accordingly. 
 

Alan Stoneham 

7 At their meeting on 2 September 2014 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a presentation 
from the Chief Executive of Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust, asked that she be invited to return in 
September 2015 to provide a further update to the 
Committee. 
 
The Work Plan has been updated accordingly. 
 

Alan Stoneham 

Agenda Item 7 Page 18



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

8 At their meeting on 2 September 2014 Members 
agreed that consideration of the item on the Dartford 
Children and Young People’s Partnership Board 
should be moved to the March 2015 meeting of the 
Committee. 
 
The Work Plan has been updated accordingly. 
 

Alan Stoneham 

9 At their meeting on 2 September 2014 Members 
asked that items relating to the planned Task Group 
review of policies used in other Town Centres be 
scheduled for the March and June 2015 meetings of 
the Committee. 
 
The Work Plan has been updated accordingly. 
 

Alan Stoneham 

10 At their meeting on 2 September 2014 the Policy 
Overview Committee agreed the Town Centre Task 
Group’s Terms of Reference. 
 
A review of the report on the initiatives being 
progressed by the Town Team is to be scheduled 
following its publication. 
 

 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvement. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable. 
 

7. Appendices 
 
None. 
 

Agenda Item 7Page 19



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 DECEMBER 2014 

 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Alan Stoneham 

(01322) 343330 
Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 7 Page 20



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 
 

PHARMACY SERVICES 

 

1. Summary 
 

1.1 To receive a briefing on the services that can be provided by pharmacies. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the information provided be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. At its meeting on 11 March 2014 the Policy Overview Committee, 

having received a briefing from the Chief Operating Officer of Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group, expressed an 
interest in the services that are offered by pharmacies and asked that a 
representative of the group be invited to a future meeting to explain 
how the services provided by pharmacies integrate with those offered 
by other health service providers. 

3.2. A representative has therefore been invited to this meeting to provide 
the briefing requested by Members. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
Health and Wellbeing is a Corporate Plan theme. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications  None 

Legal Implications  None  

Staffing Implications  None 

Administrative Implications  None  

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
           
          None. 
  

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 8Page 21



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
  Alan Stoneham 

(01322) 343330 
Member Services 
 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 8 Page 22



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

HEALTHY LIVING CENTRE DARTFORD 

 

1. Summary 
 

1.1   To receive a briefing on the work that is carried out at the Healthy Living Centre 
Dartford. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the information provided be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. At its meeting on 10 December 2013 the Policy Overview Committee 

received a presentation from representatives from the Healthy Living 
Centre Dartford on the work that is carried out at the Centre (minute 
36). During subsequent discussion Members had congratulated the 
Centre on the various services that were being delivered, and had 
welcomed the significant support that the Centre was providing to the 
community. They had then asked that representatives from the Centre 
be invited back in 2014 to provide a further update. 

3.2. A representative has therefore been invited to this meeting to provide 
the requested update. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
Health and Wellbeing is a Corporate Plan theme. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications  None 

Legal Implications  None  

Staffing Implications  None 

Administrative Implications  None  

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
           
 None. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 9Page 23



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
  Alan Stoneham 

(01322) 343330 
Member Services 
 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 9 Page 24



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH LOCALITY PROJECTS 

ANNUAL REPORT 2013/14 

 

 
1. Summary 
 

1.1  To update the committee on the outcomes of the Dartford Preventative Health 
Locality Projects for the financial year 2013/14.  

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Committee note the report. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. For a number of years within West Kent, there has been recognition 
that District Councils have a role to play on the issue of public health. 
Functions such as planning, housing, environmental health, leisure and 
community safety all can impact the health of the local community.  
District councils also tend to be closer to local communities and 
therefore are better placed to understand which programmes are likely 
to be most effective in a given location 

3.2. Dartford Borough Council has worked in partnership with Public Health, 
(formerly based within the Primary Care Trust of NHS West Kent) since 
2008 to deliver preventative health projects across the borough. 

3.3. During 2013/14, the Council was commissioned under, and monitored 
against, a Service Level Agreement to deliver work related healthy 
weight and mental health and community cohesion by Kent County 
Council.   

3.4. The Service Level Agreement was monitored quarterly through reports 
and data submissions. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications The Council receives £123,870 of 
funding to deliver preventative health 
work in the borough.  

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications The Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator post 
is funded by the preventative health 
locality funding 

Agenda Item 10Page 25



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment Inability to deliver against the service 
specifications set by Public Health could 
result in the loss of budget and the 
termination of a number of projects. 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Dartford Health Locality Funding Annual Report: April 
2013 - March 2014 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Anna Card 

(01322) 34067 
Community Development 
Team (Sevenoaks District 
Council – shared service) 
 
Strategic Directorate - 
External 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 10 Page 26



APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 

Dartford Preventative Health 
Locality Projects 

 

Annual Report  

 

April 2013 – March 2014 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 10Page 27



 

 

1. Introduction 

During the financial year of 2013/14, Dartford Borough Council (DBC) received 

£123,870 of funding from Kent County Council (KCC) to deliver preventative health 

work in the Borough related to public health outcome.  This work is commissioned 

under, and monitored against, a Service Level Agreement.  The Service Level 

Agreement for the financial year required funding to be allocated 60% for healthy 

weight and 40% to mental health and community cohesion.  A breakdown of the 

funding allocation can be found in Appendix A.   The budget is managed by 

Sevenoaks District Council on behalf of the Council as a shared service.  

 

Dartford as a locality also receives an additional £61,000 under separate Service 

Level Agreements.  £45,000 is paid directly to Healthy Living Centre Dartford and 

£16,000 to Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust to contribute toward community 

dietetic support across both areas for the Don’t Sit Get Fit project.   

 

2. Healthy Weight  

A healthy weight service specification was issued to local authorities in April 2010 for 

the delivery of adult and family weight management services.  The delivery of the 

adult and family weight management elements of the service specification are sub-

contracted to Healthy Living Centre Dartford (HLCD). The project ‘Get Active - for a 

Healthier, Happier Dartford’ is also delivered under the Healthy Weight funding.    

 

2.1 Adult Weight Management 

Overview 

The aim of the adult weight management service specification is to sustain a long 

term movement towards and maintenance of a 5-10% body weight loss amongst 

overweight or obese adults from age 18 (BMI ≤28). The expected outcome of the 

programmes is at least 20% of recruited participants will lose 5-10% of body weight 

when assessed at two years. Annually the target is to enrol 220 individuals onto a 

weight management programme.   

 

HLCD has delivered the adult weight management programme ‘Why Weight’ on 

behalf of the Council since January 2011.  Why Weight is a 12 week programme 

which includes both a nutritional and exercise element within a weekly hour and half 

session.  HLCD delivered 6 programmes at Peppercorns Centre, Dartford during the 

year.  

 

Since Jan 2013 additional programmes have been delivered across the borough co-

ordinated by the Council’s Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator utilising a nutritionist from 

Sevenoaks District Council health outreach team and exercise instructors from the 

Council’s leisure centres. During 2013/14 7 programmes were delivered across 

Temple Hill, Stone and Swanscombe. 

 

Agenda Item 10 Page 28



 

 

Key Outcomes 

During 2013/2014, 209 individuals were recruited to Why Weight (6 of these were 

returners from previous programmes). Of those individuals, 189 had a recorded start 

weight at week 1.  95 individuals completed at least 8 out of the 12 sessions of their 

programme.    

 

172 individuals achieved weight loss (82%).  The total weight lost by all individuals 

equalled 422.88kg, an average of 2.45kg per person.   

 

149 individuals had a waist measurement taken at the start of the programme (waist 

measurement is not compulsory).  Of those 149, 75 had an end waist measurement 

with a total lost equalling 331.5cm or an average of 4.42cm per person. 

 

Where data was collected at the end of programme (79 individuals): 

• 77% of individuals increased their minutes of moderate and/or vigorous 

exercise 

• 78% of individuals increased their portions of fruit and vegetables 

• 53% of individuals reduced their portions of unhealthy foods (high fat 

foods/fried foods) 

• 62% of individuals improved their mental wellbeing 

 

Case Studies from participants can be found in Appendix B.  

 

2.2 Family Weight Management - Don’t Sit Get Fit (DSGF) 

DSGF is managed by the HLCD and consist of two elements of the Kent Healthy 

Weight Care Pathway for Children and Young People:  

 

• Universal – health promotion evidence-based project that promotes healthy 

lifestyles to children and young people of any weight centile.   

• Tier 1 – Targeted management of weight for children and young people with a 

BMI greater than the 91st centile and below the 98th centile.  

 

Universal Element 

During 2013/14, DSGF have worked on a wide range of health promotion projects in 

schools and the local community which promote healthier lifestyles, primarily 

focusing on healthy eating and physical activity. Projects can take the form of 

intensive projects such as school interventions to support the national curriculum or 

to support the school’s Healthy Schools Enhancement Plans and delivery of the 

National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP).  Alternatively they can support 

with brief intervention at assemblies, coffee mornings, health weeks, school fetes, 

and community engagement events. 

 

Agenda Item 10Page 29



 

 

• DSGF have delivered either brief or targeted universal interventions at 9 

primary/secondary schools during the year.  They have also delivered or 

supported projects/events for Dartford Children’s Centres, Kent Integrated 

Adolescent support service (KIASS), Dartford Children and Families Social 

Services - Early Intervention team, Princes Community Forum, Dartford 

Libraries and DBC’s Summer Sizzlers programme.  

 

• In total 102 sessions were delivered and 1807 children and young people 

were engaged with the project during 2013/14. 

 

• An example of a universal project that DSGF has delivered this year is a 

Healthy Lifestyles Intervention Programme at Dartford Science and 

Technology College.  The after-school club worked with students during a six 

week programme designed around healthy eating and physical activity 

choices based on the Change4Life health messages.   

 

• DSGF are also a key member of the National Child Measurement Programme 

Locality (NCMP) Group led by Kent Community Health Trust to improve the 

delivery of the NCMP pathway within Dartford primary schools. During this 

first year DSGF have worked to identify ‘healthy weight hub’ schools in the 

local area and have worked closely with Stone St Mary’s and Temple Hill 

Primary schools.  An example of the work delivered as part of this included 

delivering a range of healthy living network events for parents/carers; school 

caterers/cooks and mid-day meal supervisors; and healthy schools co-

ordinators, Family Liaison Officers and Parent Support Assistants. The 

networks focused on a variety of health topics that included: 

o The Whole school approach to healthy weight    

o Healthy eating and ideas to promote a balanced school meal selection 

, by pupils, through focus on the eat well plate 

o The dining room environment, ideas on how to enhance the school 

meal experience 

o Physical activity 

 

Dynamo Club 

Don’t Sit Get Fit also deliver as part of the healthy weight service specification a 

family weight management programme.  This service is level one of the Kent Healthy 

Weight Care Pathway for Children and Young People.  The service is an evidenced 

based, multi-component weight management programme for families called Dynamo 

Club provided as part of the Healthy Weight Service Specification.   

 

The aim of the programme is to sustain a long term movement towards a healthier 

weight among overweight or obese children over a two year period.  This should be 

achieved via the delivery of a 10-12 week multi component weight management 

Agenda Item 10 Page 30



 

 

course with one-to-one or group follow-up support.  The expected outcome of the 

programme is to engage 50 families per year and that 50% of participants should 

have maintained a reduction in BMI Centile at the end of the two years.   

 

As with other family weight management programmes in West Kent Dynamo Club 
continues to struggle with referrals both from professionals and self-referrals.  
 
Key Outcomes 
Three Dynamo clubs ran during 2013/14 to coincide with the school term times.  

 

During 2013/14, 12 children engaged with the Dynamo Club and increase of 4 

individuals compared to the previous year. Of those children, all 12 met the criteria of 

BMI above the 91st centile. Results are below: 

 
Table.1 BMI Centile change at end of intervention 

No of Children BMI Centile Change Status 

3 Did not complete 

0 Increased 

8 No Change 

1 Reduced 

12 Sub-total 

 
 

2.3 Get Active Community Exercise Classes 

 

The ‘Get Active – For a Healthier Happier Dartford’ project is originally based on 

findings of a social marketing project which was undertaken in the borough in 2009.  

The overall aim of the project is to increase the resident’s knowledge of physical 

activity opportunities in the borough by promoting free and low-cost opportunities 

available in the borough to be active.  This is achieved by working with local partners 

to actively promote existing facilities, activities, projects and clubs via the Get Active 

pages on the DBC Website. 

 

As part of the project four community exercise classes run across the borough, these 

classes are based in identified areas of need e.g. low income families, few 

opportunities for physical activity (Temple Hill and Swanscombe).  Additionally, 

clients who attend the weight management programmes are signposted to the 

exercise classes as an additional exercise opportunity to support their weight loss.   

Key Outcomes 

During 2013/14 there were 1422 attendances, which equates to 154 individuals - 150 

females and 4 males, (please note these classes are primarily targeted at women).   

• Of the 50 evaluations completed, individuals reported the following positive 

outcomes: 

Agenda Item 10Page 31



 

 

- 80% of respondents acknowledged the activity had improved their general 

health 

- 94% of respondents reported increased activity levels 

- 48% of respondents reported they had gained either a social or mental 

wellbeing benefit 

- 30% of respondents reported the activity had helped them to lose weight 

- 20% of respondents reported they had improved their diet due to the 

activity.  

Qualitative data is also gained from the evaluation forms, a selection of comments 

can be found in Table below: 

  

Year 
Quarter 

Comments 

1. 

Healthier in myself 

Feel fitter  

Stretches your joints and ligaments to strength them relieve some aches and pains. 

It improves my posture, helps me stretch properly and helps my back. 

Helps flexibility and well-being 

I am going through a divorce the class helps me relax and be less stressed 

2. 

I don’t feel bloated all the time and I’ve lost 1/2 stone. 

Was very depressed in myself, but now I feel better. 

Helping me to lose weight. 

Less stressed 

3.  
Helped depression 

Improved my bad back 

 4.  

Very good for getting out and meeting people 

A good activity for exercise and socialising.  

Fun and enjoyable. 

This activity is very well run and encompassed all ages.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 10 Page 32



 

 

3. Mental Health and Community Cohesion 

Below is a grid of each element of the 2013/14 service specification and an overview 

of how this was achieved.  Further information on key projects follows (highlighted 

boxes).  

 

Mental Health, Wellbeing and Community-led programmes (Adults) 

1. Mental Health and Wellbeing 

  

Service Specification 

Requirement 

How was this achieved? Not achieved - why? 

1.1 Provide information and 

signposting on the LA website to:  

Live it well, Five ways to 

Wellbeing, Big White Wall, Mental 

Health Matter Helpline 

All information is on the mental 

health pages of Dartford Borough 

Council and Healthy Living Centre 

Dartford websites.  

  

1.2 Provide one local campaign 

per annum promoting Five Ways 

to Wellbeing (FWTW): one local 

World Mental Health Day (WMHD) 

public event each autumn 

targeted to area or theme and run 

one council staff campaign 

promoting 5 Ways to Wellbeing. 

WMHD event - delivered in 

partnership with Dartford Library in 

October on WMHD.  Members of 

the public were asked to make a 

pledge to improve their mental 

wellbeing via one of the FWTW.    

    

FWTW Staff Event – delivered in 

October as part of the Staff 

wellbeing month where a number of 

key health promotion days were 

promoted throughout the month. 

FWTW were promoted on WMHD 

and also at the Staff event at the 

end of the month.  

  

 

1.3 Provide Physical Activity 

sessions for people in one of the 

following at-risk groups (Mental 

Health, Learning Disability, 

Physically Disabled, Older People 

and those with long-term health 

conditions). 

Health walks - Long- term health 

conditions, learning disabilities, and 

mental health                    

 

Gentle exercise classes in 

partnership with Age UK - Older 

people 

  

1.4 Offer Suicide Prevention 

Training (ASSIST or similar) for 

local staff working with at-risk 

groups e.g. PCSO, Community 

Wardens, CAB workers and 

provide Mental Health Awareness 

for all front-line workers. Training 

ASSIST Training – Two courses 

were delivered. One in May 2013 in 

partnership with Gravesham and 

Maidstone Borough Council's (8 

places per authority).  The second 

was in partnership with North Kent 

Women’s Aid to support their staff 

and volunteer base (24 attendees) 

    

  

Agenda Item 10Page 33



 

 

Mental Health Awareness 

Training - delivered April 2013, 8 

participants (DBC frontline workers)   

1.5 Give Occupational Health or 

manager workplace screening for 

depression and anxiety 

disorders to staff returning from 

absence (see NICE guidance 

‘Promoting mental wellbeing 

through productive and healthy 

working conditions: guidance for 

employers’) 

Staff returning from long term 

sickness of any type (including 

depression and anxiety disorders) 

are referred to the occupational 

nurse during and/or prior to their 

return to ensure appropriate 

measures are in place to facilitate 

and sustain return to work.  This is 

the standard practice.  

  

1.6 According to locally identified 

need, deliver other agreed 

community development or social 

cohesion initiatives improving 

participation, problem-solving, 

personal development, 

employability, and increasing 

volunteering and MHWB. 

 

SAFE project – Youth-led mental 

health awareness project 

 

Being Assertive Course – 6 

weeks of assertiveness and 

confidence building aimed to help 

improve communication skills at 

work, socially, and personal 

relationships. 

 

  

1.7 Where applicable, deliver 

agreed Black Minority Ethnic and 

men’s community development 

work projects for MH agreed 

projects. 

A funding bid was made to KCC for 

£10k health inequalities funding 

related to local health inequalities 

action plans to deliver a Men’s 

health project, the bid was 

successful and delivery will 

commence in 2014/15. 

Due to the request from 

KCC to deliver the SAFE 

project across West Kent 

funding had to be 

realigned and the 

decision was made to no 

longer fund the joint BME 

Health Worker with 

Gravesham Borough 

Council, therefore no 

specific BME work was 

delivered during 2013/14 

although the newly 

formed Dartford Health 

Inequalities Group has 

requested to re-establish 

the D&G BME Health 

forum as a sub-group.    

 

 

Agenda Item 10 Page 34



 

 

1.8 Carry out one Mental 

Wellbeing Impact Assessment 

(MWIA) of a current or developing 

service or piece of work delivered 

by the Council in the community 

 Not completed – unable 

to identify time/resources 

to complete 

1.9 Provide Health & Safety 

materials to help local Employers 

support employees, including 

advice on mental health and 

wellbeing, drugs, alcohol, 

smoking, domestic abuse through 

local Chamber of Commerce 

or similar avenues. 

During 2013/14 Kent County 

Council public health directorate 

approached each local authority in 

Kent to support the delivery of the 

Kent Healthy Business Award 

during 2014/15. This work will be 

delivered via the Council’s joint EH 

team with Sevenoaks District 

Council 

 

 

2. Domestic Abuse 

2.1 Provide one population level 

Domestic Abuse (DA) campaign 

per annum including signposting 

to local support services 

Information about Dartford One-

Stop Shop and NWK Women's Aid 

was included in the Dartford Link 

Magazine which is distributed to 

Council properties in the borough. 

 

  

2.2 Ensure DA helpline posters 

including local contacts are visible 

in all LA maintained ladies’ 

lavatories, and cascaded annually 

to Parish Councils for community 

venues. 

Completed – Posters for the Kent 

and Medway Domestic Abuse 

support services website are 

displayed in Civic Centre lavatories 

(both males and females) and the 

poster was cascaded to a variety of 

local community partners and 

organisations.    

 

  

2.3 Train front-line staff and 

volunteers in Domestic Abuse 

awareness 

The D&G DA Forum decided to 

raise awareness of DA for frontline 

staff in the local community through 

a partnership conference.  The 

event was highly oversubscribed 

and 150 individuals attended 

throughout the day. The event 

included a drama production, 

presentations from local services 

such NKWA and Social Services.  

Victims also gave talks on their 

experiences of services such IDVA. 

 

 

Agenda Item 10Page 35



 

 

2.4 Support Independent 

Domestic Violence Advocates 

(IDVAs) through provision of 

Domestic Abuse support to 

victims (Freedom Programme 

or other) in partnership with other 

local services and in response to 

locally identified need. 

The Council's Healthy Lifestyles 

Co-ordinator, Housing Officer, and 

Community Safety Manager are all 

members of the D&G Domestic 

Abuse Forum.   

The D&G Domestic 

Abuse forum primarily 

carry out this role.  E.g. 

Provide funding to 

support the freedom 

programmes for example 

for crèche facilities, 

printing costs for 

promotional materials    

3. Substance Misuse 

3.1 Provide one population level 

drug campaign and one alcohol 

campaign using Department of 

Health materials, including 

signposting to local support 

services 

Press release for Alcohol 

Awareness Week was produced. 

Healthy Living Centre Dartford 

promoted both weeks within the 

centre. During AAW a men’s 

health/Movember event was 

delivered in partnership with 

Dartford Football Club at Princes 

Park.   

 

3.2 Train front-line workers in 

Identification and Brief Advice 

(IBA) AUDIT-C as recommended 

in the Models of Care for Alcohol 

Misuse (MOCAM). 

CRI as the commissioned 

substance misuse service took over 

the delivery of this action.   

  

3.3 Provide targeted Alcohol 

campaigns / very brief 

interventions to at-risk 

communities or groups. That is: 

deliver Identification and very Brief 

Advice, verbally or through e.g. 

scratch-cards or leaflets to a 

minimum of 200 people AND use 

AUDIT-C tool on a minimum of 

100 occasions to identify and 

advise harmful and hazardous 

drinkers on an opportunistic basis. 

IBA’s carried out via adult weight 

management assessments, project 

evaluation forms and 

opportunistically at community 

health promotion events.  

  

3.4 Refer as necessary to 

specialist treatment services. 

Of the  individuals meeting the 

criteria for onward referral, two 

referrals was made to CRI during 

2013/14 

  

Agenda Item 10 Page 36



 

 

3.5 Continue to engage at 

strategic level with the Kent 

Community Alcohol Pilot (KCAP) 

and the Kent Alliance on Smoking 

and Health (KASH), in order to 

address supply of illicit tobacco 

and alcohol to children and 

assess the effects (including the 

financial burden) of tobacco on 

the community 

KCAP project is not currently being 

delivered in the Dartford Borough.  

However, a funding contribution is 

made to Dartford’s Community 

Safety project - Grabbacab annually 

from the Preventative Health 

funding. The service was delivered 

on 102 occasions and 11600 

journeys were delivered in 2013/14   

       

 

  

 

 

3.1 Physical activity projects for at-risk groups  

The Service specification requires provision of physical activity sessions for people in 

one of the following at-risk groups; Mental Health, Learning Disability, Physically 

Disabled, Older People and those with long-term health conditions.  This objective 

was achieved through the delivery of the Dartford Health Walk Programme and 

Gentle Exercise Classes in partnership with NWK Age UK. 

 

Dartford Health Walks Overview 

Dartford Health Walk programme is an accredited scheme which is part of the 

national Walking for Health initiative (WfH).  It began in February 2010 and consists 

of four walks; a weekly walk in Central Park, weekly walk at Darenth Country Park, a 

weekly ‘progression’ walk at various locations across North-West Kent and South-

East London and a monthly walk for the cardiac rehabilitation patients at Acacia 

Fitness (between April and Oct).   

 

The health walks have a strong relationship with the local mental health charities 

(Mind, mcch, and Rethink) and receive referrals.  

 

Key outcomes 

In 2013/14 there were 914 attendances, engaging 53 individuals – 38 females, and 

15 males.  

Of the 33 evaluations completed, individuals reported the following positive 

outcomes: 

- 87% of respondents acknowledged the activity had improved their general 

health 

- 91% of respondents reported increased activity levels 

- 64% of respondents reported they had gain either a social or mental 

wellbeing benefit 

- 21% of respondents reported the activity had helped them to lose weight 

Agenda Item 10Page 37



 

 

- 9% of respondents reported they had improved their diet due to the 

activity.  

*Please note - No data is available from the Cardiac Rehabilitation Walk, and 

therefore is not included in the above results.  

 

Gentle Exercise Classes Overview 

During 2013/14, an additional gentle exercise class began being delivered in June at 

Stone Pavilion due to an increased demand at the existing class at Age UK 

Meadowside.  The classes are based on both postural stability and chair-based 

exercises. The aim is to encourage older people to exercise and to demonstrate the 

importance of being active in later life, promoting the benefits for both mental and 

physical health.  General health promotion advice is also provided during the 

classes.  

 

The gentle exercise classes are delivered alongside the ‘Keeping Strong, Staying 

Steady’ (KSSS) programme, supports individuals who have had a fall or at high risk 

of falling.  KSSS is a 12 week intensive postural stability programme with the option 

to continue for up to additional 24 weeks.  KSSS is delivered via another funding 

stream from Kent County Council’s Public Health directorate. Once individuals have 

completed the KSSS programme they are directed to the gentle exercise classes as 

a follow-on route.  

 

Key outcomes 

During 2013/14 there were 613 attendances, which equates to 45 individuals - 36 

females and 9 males. Of the 32 evaluations completed, individuals reported the 

following positive outcomes: 

- 100% of respondents reported they had gain either a social or mental 

wellbeing benefit 

- 87% of respondents reported increased activity levels 

- 100% of respondents reported increased confidence in balance. 

- 44% of respondents reported they had improved their diet due to the 

activity.  

3.2 Community development or social cohesion Initiatives  

SAFE project 

SAFE (Suicide Awareness for Everyone) is a newly commissioned project for 

2013/14 delivered by VAWK (Voluntary Action Within Kent). Safe is a youth led 

project working to raise awareness about mental health in young people.  

Agenda Item 10 Page 38



 

 

SAFE aims to break down the unnecessary stigma that surrounds mental health and 

help young people in Kent know that they are not alone and that there is support to 

help them with a variety of mental health & wellbeing issues. The project aims to 

make sure that young people are more aware of the danger signs of youth suicide 

and that they recognise the signs of mental health difficulties in themselves and their 

friends. 

SAFE originated in the Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells area and KCC public health 

requested that locality funding be used to expand the delivery across the whole of 

West Kent.  VAWK were tasked with establishing SAFE in four secondary schools 

within the borough (Dartford Grammar School, Dartford Grammar for Girls 

Wilmington Academy, and Longfield Academy).  This has been achieved through the 

recruitment of 18 SAFE volunteers who established a weekly community based 

‘SAFE space’ at the Dartford KIASS hub and monthly or weekly SAFE spaces within 

three of the four schools. 

Approximately 2300 young people have been reached by the project during 2013/14 

raising awareness through assemblies, presentations and within SAFE Spaces 

which are delivered by the SAFE volunteers with the support of the SAFE project 

worker.  Volunteers have received safeguarding training, ‘Safe Talk’ training and 

mental health awareness training which was delivered in partnership with Time to 

Change the national mental health anti-stigma campaign.  

 

A full annual report on the SAFE project for West Kent is available.    

 

Being Assertive Course  

 

Being Assertive is a 6 week training course of assertiveness and confidence building 

aimed to help improve communication skills at work, socially, and in personal 

relationships. Being Assertive aims not only to give participants the skills and 

confidence they need to be assertive, but they also gain a nationally recognised and 

approved OCN Level 1 qualification in assertiveness. The OCN is the ‘Open College 

Network’, which specialises in recognising and awarding achievement outside of 

traditional qualifications.   The course is delivered New Futures Training and 

Consultancy in partnership with Healthy Living Centre Dartford.  

 

Key Outcomes 

12 individuals were recruited to the course, 11 participated for the duration and 8 

individuals completed the accreditation process for the OCN level 1 qualification.  

 

Each participant completes a Behaviour Styles Questionnaire at the start, and on 

completion of each ‘Being Assertive’ course - Data is derived from the questionnaire 

measures passive, aggressive, and assertive behaviours.    

Agenda Item 10Page 39



 

 

All individuals who completed the course demonstrated an improvement in 

assertiveness on the scale shown on the table below: 

 

Index Figure Slight Moderate Significant Very 

Significant 

No of 

individuals  
4 1 2 1 

 

 

3.3 Substance Misuse 

 

Alcohol 

For adults, Identification and brief advice (IBA’s) were delivered using the Audit-C 

tool (Appendix C). This tool was incorporated into the screening of the participants of 

the weight management courses and the evaluation forms of other projects (not 

compulsory to complete).   

336 individuals were assessed, 70 (21%) were considered to be increasing risk 

drinkers (score 5+) and 5 (1%) individuals were classified as high risk drinkers (score 

10+). 

Brief Intervention leaflets and advice were given to all individuals who scored 5 or 

above.  Local substance misuse support organisation, CRI, accept referrals for any 

individuals who scored 8 or above.  Therefore, all individuals scoring 8 or above 

were told about CRI drop-in and other services and then asked if they would like to 

be referred, 2 referrals were made to CRI.  

Follow-up data has been collected from 79 people (13.5%).  24 (31%) individuals 

decreased their score, 47 (60%) individuals score stayed the same and 7 individuals’ 

score increased (9%).  However, 5 of the 7 individuals were still classified as low risk 

drinkers.  Two individual moved from a low risk classification to high risk.     

Smoking 

During adult weight management assessments, health-drop-in clinics, and when 

participants of any project/activity complete an evaluation form they are asked if they 

smoke and if they would like to be referred into the NHS Stop Smoking Service.  Out 

of a total of 349 responses 15 people identified themselves as smokers, 2 individuals 

were referred into the service.  DBC occasionally receive requests for stop smoking 

support via emails and phone calls – 5 individuals were directed/referred into the 

service via this route.   

 

 

Agenda Item 10 Page 40



 

 

Appendix A: Commissioning for Prevention – Locality Budget Breakdown 

2013/14 

 

Programme Budget Detail 

Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator £38,600 
Staff salary + on costs (60% work on healthy 
weight & 40% on mental wellbeing) 

Healthy Weight 
  

Adult Weight Management 
Programmes £32,770 

Get Active Programme (£5,770) + 12 week 
weight management programmes (£27,000) - 
some delivered in partnership with HLC 

Dietician support (2 days per week) £16,000 

Resource utilised In partnership with HLC - 
Commissioned directly to DGS Community 
Dietetics Service 

Don’t Sit Get Fit £30,000 Delivered in partnership with the HLC 

HW TOTAL £78,770   

Community Development + Mental Wellbeing 
  

Grab-a-Cab £5,000  Dartford Community Safety Unit 

Exercise & wellbeing interventions 
targeting older people £2,500 

Postural Stability, Over 50's exercise, health 
walk leader training & promotion 

SAFE Project (suicide Awareness For 
Everyone - VAWK Project) £10,000 

Contribution towards Co-ordinator costs for 
Dartford area 

Mental wellbeing - targeted Tier 1 & 2 
interventions £5,000 

Mental health in the workplace, awareness and 
suicide prevention activities 

MH TOTAL £22,500   

Healthy Living Centre £45,000 
Commissioned directly to Healthy Living Centre 
Dartford as part of separate SLA with NHS WK 

TOTAL FUNDING BUDGET 
£184,870 

 

Agenda Item 10Page 41



 

 

Appendix B: Why Weight Case Study 

Phillip 

Due to suffering with Type 2 Diabetes Phillip had initially been referred by the local 

diabetes clinic weighing in at 31 stone and with a waist measurement of 170cm.  He 

was unwell and at risk of losing his foot.  However, since attending the April 2013 

programme he has gone on to lose over 13 stone and due to his incredible weight 

loss has now been taken off his diabetes medication, and also had his blood 

pressure tablets reduced too. 

Right from the beginning Phillip was extremely focussed and motivated which 

resulted in weight loss every single week throughout the programme.  Having been a 

person who skipped breakfast, he began eating healthy, regular meals throughout 

the day which helped to avoid snacking in the afternoon when he normally would 

have become hungry.   

Another change was exercising. Phillip had been more or less housebound; his 

weight and other medical complications made it difficult to walk and he has issues 

with balance which contributed to him leading quite an isolated existence.  But his 

determination overcame this and he started to use an exercise bike indoors.  Not 

much initially, about a 3 minutes and he confesses to having to stop sometimes up to 

5 times during this time.  However as the weight steadily came off, the duration and 

intensity of exercise increased. 

 “Apart from the health benefits I have gained I have also benefitted from an 

increased ‘feel-good factor’ from doing things like shopping, wearing normal clothes 

and being included in everyday activities that just weren’t accessible to me before.”  

“I found the help from the Healthy Living Team invaluable and attribute my success 

to a number of things I learnt from the programme such as keeping a food diary, 

using a smaller plate at meal times and understanding the nutritional content from 

food labels and being able to make healthier choices from this knowledge.” 

Joanne  

Joanne took part in the Why Weight programme in January 2014.  She recently 

attended an NHS Health Check appointment at her GP’s and was very pleased with 

her results.  

“I was amazed with my results and I put this all down to attending the Why Weight 

Course and the course leaders, without the nutritional and exercise advice they gave 

me I feel my results would have been quite bad. Since the course ended I have been 

following healthy eating and doing a follow-on exercise class in Swanscombe, which 

is subsidised, which is brilliant otherwise I would not be able to afford it. The Why 

Weight Course it absolutely brilliant and I would recommend it to anyone!”

Agenda Item 10 Page 42



 

 

 

Appendix C: Audit C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       

 

Scoring: A total of 5+ indicates increasing or higher risk drinking. An overall total score of 8 or above is AUDIT-C positive. 

Questions 
Scoring system 

Your 

score 
0 1 2 3 4 

How often do you have a 

drink containing alcohol? 
Never 

Monthly 

or less 

2 - 4 

times 

per 

month 

2 - 3 

times 

per 

week 

4+ 

times 

per 

week 

 

How many units of alcohol 

do you drink on a typical day 

when you are drinking? 

1 -2 3 - 4 5 - 6 7 - 9 10+  

How often have you had 6 or 

more units if female, or 8 or 

more if male, on a single 

occasion in the last year? 

Never 

Less 

than 

monthly 

Monthly Weekly 

Daily 

or 

almost 

daily 

 

A
genda Item

 10
P

age 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

SOCIAL MEDIA 

 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1   To inform the Committee about the use of social media by Local Government 

and to examine possible principles which could be applied to any social media 
policy developed by the Council. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  The Committee note the development of social media and its potential impact 

on local authorities.  

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. “Social Media” is the term commonly given to web based tools which 
allow users to interact with each other through the sharing of 
information, knowledge and interests on line. Social media involves the 
building of on line communities or networks which encourage 
communication and engagement. 

3.2. There are a number of platforms which social media users use. These 
include Facebook, Twitter, You Tube, Google, Instagram, LinkedIn and 
Pinterest. The number of monthly visits worldwide to the sites gives 
some idea as to the level of involvement with social media. Facebook 
has 901 million visits per month, Twitter has 555 million, Google 170 
million and LinkedIn 150 million.  

3.3. The platforms offer a number of different services to users. Facebook 
is an on line social networking service. After registering to use the site, 
users can create a user profile, add other users as "friends", exchange 
messages, post status updates and photos, share videos and receive 
notifications when others update their profiles. Additionally, users may 
join common-interest user groups, organized by workplace, school or 
University, or other characteristics, and categorize their friends into lists 
such as "People from Work" or "Close Friends". Facebook had over 1.3 
billion active users as of June 2014. 

3.4. Twitter is an online social networking service that enables users to 
send and read short 140-character messages called "tweets".  As of 
July 2014, Twitter had more than 500 million users, out of which more 
than 271 million are active users. 

3.5. You Tube is a video-sharing website. The site allows users to upload, 
view, and share videos, and it makes use of Adobe Flash Video and 
HTML5 technology to display a wide variety of user-generated and 
corporate media video. Available content includes video clips, TV clips, 
music videos, and other content such as video blogging, short original 

Agenda Item 11Page 45



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 
videos, and educational videos. In 2012 it streamed 12 billion videos 
per day. 

3.6. LinkedIn is a business-oriented social networking service. Founded in 
December 2002 and launched on May 5, 2003, it is mainly used for 
professional networking. In 2006, LinkedIn increased to 20 million 
members. As of June 2013, LinkedIn reported more than 259 million 
acquired users in more than 200 countries. 

3.7. A survey of social media use in Dartford by Participate has found that 
around 54,000 Dartford residents use social media. 29% of users used 
Twitter, whilst in a ten mile radius of the Town Centre there were 
260,000 Facebook users. Over a thirty day period Participate found 
117 direct mentions of the Council, with up to 1887 mentions of Council 
services, which did not make direct reference to the Council. 

3.8. Dartford Festival has its own Twitter account and received 32,000 
tweets over the Festival period. 

3.9. Social media is therefore a powerful tool for: 

• Providing information about Council services or things that are 
happening in the Borough. For example Kent County Council used 
social media to warn residents in Yalding about the threat of 
flooding last year. 

• Finding out what people think and engaging with them over the 
quality of Council services or major projects such as the Paramount 
London Resort. 

•  Marketing events, for example the Festival or other services we 
provide. 

3.10   The very power of this medium means that there are dangers in simply 
allowing unrestricted uploading of material onto social media sites and 
if the Council was minded to create a social media presence it would 
need to set out a framework for how that presence would be managed. 

3.11   Many Councils have published policy frameworks in these areas and 
they tend to include the following characteristics: 

• The Council sets up a group to oversee the Council’s presence on 
Social media, and this group agrees what can and cannot be 
published. Final sign off is at Director level. 

• Services wishing to use social media need to set out what it is they 
wish to communicate, who the audience is, why a particular social 
media network is to be used, who will be responsible for monitoring 
the site, what will happen to any results and when will the 
publication be taken down. Where relevant there should be links to 
the main Council web site. 

Agenda Item 11 Page 46



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

• There is clear guidance on content which should not be 
discriminatory, be party political, or involve the disclosure of 
confidential or personal information. It should also be made clear 
that the content is from the Council and what is being asked for 
from participants. 

• Participants should also be made aware that their comments may 
be removed by the Council if they breach publication guidelines 
(which should be published). These would include racist, sexist or 
homophobic comments, profanity, links to inappropriate sites, for 
example adult content or attempts to market products or services. 

• Individual members of staff are also reminded of their 
responsibilities when using social media, even on a personal basis, 
such as not disclosing confidential information or disparaging 
colleagues. 

• The Council will seek to correct postings which contain inaccuracies 
about the Council and its services; however it will not intervene in 
party political debates. Social media initiatives will not be 
undertaken during the “purdah” period before elections. 

3.12    As stated in paragraph 3.10 above there are a number of issues local 
authorities need to consider if they develop social media policies, 
including staff resources needed to administer such a process and 
ensuring appropriate content. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Consultation and engagement relates to the Corporate Plan theme A 
Council Performing Strongly. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications  None from this report 

Legal Implications  None from this report 

Staffing Implications  None from this report 

Administrative Implications  None from this report 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints in 
this report 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11Page 47



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 
7. Appendices 
 
            None 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Adrian Gowan 

(01322) 343418 
Policy and Corporate 
Support 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 11 Page 48



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

 

1. Summary 
 

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Work Plan be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. Attached at Appendix A, is the proposed Work Plan for the Policy 

Overview Committee. 
 

3.2. It had been hoped that Debbie Stock, Chief Operating Officer of 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 
would be available to attend this meeting in order to provide a further 
update to Members. Unfortunately she is unable to attend. 
Arrangements are being made for her to attend the Committee’s 
meeting on 10 March 2015. 
 

3.3. It had been hoped that Val Miller, Public Health Specialist for the Kent 
Public Health Service would be available to attend this meeting in order 
to provide a further update to Members. Unfortunately, due to other 
commitments, she has indicated that she is unable to attend, and has 
asked for the visit to be rescheduled. Arrangements are being made for 
a representative from the Kent Public Health Service to attend the 
Committee’s meeting on 10 March 2015. 

 
3.4. Rakesh Patel will be attending this meeting to explain how the services 

provided by pharmacies integrate with those offered by other health 
service providers. 
 

3.5. Sharon Phillips from the Healthy Living Centre Dartford will be 
attending this meeting to provide an update on the work that is being 
carried out at the Centre. 

 
3.6. An update on the preventative health work being carried out by the 

Council’s Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator has been included as part of 
this agenda. 

 
3.7. The workshop to review issues associated with the Council’s 

Consultation and Engagement Strategy has now been held. An 
associated report on Social Media has been included as part of this 
agenda. Consideration of the revised Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy has been included on the Work Plan for the 10 March 2015 
meeting of the Committee. 
 

Agenda Item 12Page 49



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 
3.8. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 2 September 2014, a 

further update from the Project Officer for Dementia Friendly 
Communities has been scheduled for March 2015. 
 

3.9. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 2 September 2014, a 
further update from the Chief Executive of Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust has been scheduled for September 2015. 
 

3.10. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 2 September 2014, work 
plan items on the work being carried out by the Town Centre Task 
Group have been scheduled for the March and June 2015 meetings of 
the Committee. 
 

3.11. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 2 September 2014, 
consideration of the item on the Dartford Children and Young People’s 
Partnership Board has been moved to the March 2015 meeting of the 
Committee. 
 

3.12. The Work Plan reflects the fact that, once the performance indicators 
have been agreed, the Committee will receive regular Performance 
Monitoring reports in the future. 

 
3.13. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 

Work Plan. 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications  None 

Legal Implications  None  

Staffing Implications  None 

Administrative Implications  None  

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Work Plan 
 

 

Agenda Item 12 Page 50



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 DECEMBER 2014 

 
 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Alan Stoneham 

(01322) 343330 
Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 12Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
POLICY OVERVIEW WORK PLAN 

 

16 December 2014 10 March 2015 June 2015 September 2015 

Pharmacy Services Kent Public Health Service Town Centre Task Group 
Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust Update 

Healthy Living Centre Dartford 
Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring 

Dartford Preventative Health 
Locality Projects Annual Report 
2013/14 

Ebbsfleet Garden City   

Social Media 
Dartford Children and Young 
People’s Partnership Board 
Update 

 
 

 
Dementia Friendly 
Communities 

 

 

 Welfare Reform Update  

 

 Town Centre Task Group  

 

 
Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy 

 

 

 Performance Monitoring  
 

A
genda Item

 12
P

age 53



P
age 54

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 2 September 2014
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 2 September 2014
	8 Pharmacy Services
	9 Healthy Living Centre Dartford
	10 Dartford Preventative Health Locality Projects Annual Report 2013/14
	Dartford Preventative Health Projects APPENDIX A

	11 Social Media
	12 Policy Overview Committee Work Plan
	Work Plan APPENDIX A


